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From: William Page
To: Chris Brown
Cc: Rob Snowling
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land West of Langham Road, Blakeney (BLA01/B)
Date: 13 March 2025 16:34:08
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Dear Chris,

Many thanks for your email. Please see below with updates, and/or confirmation that there has been no change.

Please let me know if you have any queries or require any further information.

If it would be helpful to have a further discussion about the site ahead of the hearing session on 9th April, then please let me know.

Best regards,

Will

William Page​​​​  
Planner

01284 766200 | 07553 614038
w.page@pigeon.co.uk | www.pigeon.co.uk
Linden Square, 146 Kings Road, Bury St Edmunds, IP33 3DJ

This communication from Pigeon is for the attention of the named recipient only and should not be passed on to any other person.
​It is sent in good faith, in confidence, and without legal responsibility.

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 06 March 2025 13:46
To: Rob Snowling <r.snowling@pigeon.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land West of Langham Road, Blakeney (BLA01/B)

Dear Rob,

Land West of Langham Road, Blakeney (BLA01/B)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early April regarding the Further Consultation
proposals, in order to assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability please can you re-
confirm the information provided by you previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the April hearing sessions. It is essential that
the information is accurate and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing sessions as the Inspector has made it clear of his
intentions to discuss the delivery of all sites in the Local Plan.

Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

Application Status An application has not yet been submitted. Please confirm details of the
expected timeframe for submitting an application are as follows:

Answer: Application for outline planning consent to be submitted
summer/autumn 2025 with expectation of permission granted 2025/26.
No change

Developer Engagement (this is in reference to
Question F in the MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site allocation? If there is, please
specify who:

Answer: The site is subject of an Option Agreement between the
landowners (Odd Fellows Manchester Unity Friendly Society Limited) and
Pigeon. Pigeon has a proven track record of delivery across the Eastern
Region, including Kingsfleet in Thetford (a 5,000 home sustainable urban
extension) and Land at Cromer Road, Hunstanton (120 homes).

BLA01/B
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Delivery Information:

Site BLA01/B is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as
follows:

Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29 ✔
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

We envisage commencement and delivery of the first 10 homes in 2027/28, and the remaining 20 homes in 2028/29.

We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above information remains accurate in order to assist with the
forthcoming hearings and to help us to secure your allocation.

We look forward to receiving your response by or before Friday 14th March.

Kind Regards

Chris Brown
Project Management Support Officer (Planning Policy)

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318

North Norfolk District Council Twitter

Facebook

NNDC Net Zero Strategy

*********************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************
North Norfolk District Council
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All emails maybe monitored in accordance with relevant legislation.
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From: james henman
To: Chris Brown
Subject:
Date:

Re: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land East of Langham Road (BLA04/A) 
10 March 2025 11:21:22

Morning Chris,

In answer to the queries:

1. We would be looking to submit an application within 12 months of allocation within the Local Plan.
2. We have been in discussions with Raven Development Company Limited on a joint venture basis. We have also had a number of expressions of interest
from other developers.
3. Development could commence soon after detailed permission has been granted. Commencement in 2026 is possible however, as we are already well
into 2025 and the site has not yet been allocated, the commencement date is dependent on allocation and planning approval thereafter. 

Should you require any further information do not hesitate to contact me.

Kind regards

Jim

On 6 Mar 2025, at 13:53, Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> wrote:

Dear Jim,

Local Plan Site Allocation: Land East of Langham Road (BLA04/A)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to 
assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the information provided by you 
previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the April hearing sessions. It is essential that the information is 
accurate and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing sessions as the Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the delivery of all sites in 
the Local Plan.

Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

Application Status An application has not yet been submitted. Please provide details of the
expected timeframe for submitting an application:

Answer: Intention to submit an application within 12 months of allocation
being agreed within the Local Plan

Developer Engagement (this is in reference to
Question F in the MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site allocation? If there is, please
specify who:

Answer: In discussion with Raven Development Company Limited on a
joint venture basis. We have also had a number of expressions of interest
from other developers.

Delivery Information:

Site BLA04/A is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26 ✔
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above information remains accurate in order to assist with the forthcoming hearings and to
help us to secure your allocation.

BLA04/A
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We look forward to receiving your response by or before Friday 14th March.

Kind Regards

Chris Brown
Project Management Support Officer (Planning Policy) 

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318

North Norfolk District Council Twitter

Facebook

<image277865.png>
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Registered in England Number: 7479130 Directors: T W Schofield S L Schofield 
Registered Office: 3 New Street Chambers, New Street, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 6JJ

C. Brown Esq
Project management Support Officer
North Norfolk District Council
Holt Road
Cromer
NR27 9EN

14th March 2025 
Dear Mr Brown 

Re: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land East of Langham Road, Blakeney
(BLA04/A) 

Thank you for your email of the 6th March to Jim Henman requesting a response by 
the 14th March 2025. The landowners have asked me to respond on their behalf as 
agent. 

In response to queries that you raised we have the following comments: 

Application Status: 
We are ready to submit a detailed pre-planning application over the land once the 
allocation has been confirmed with a view to establishing the form, style and access 
to the development. Once these parameters have been agreed we would move to 
submit a detailed application, it is anticipated that this process will take circa 12 
months from allocation. The intention is to progress with a planning application as 
soon as we are able to but after the adoption of the allocation. 

Developer Engagement: 
We have been approached by a number of developers including Raven Development 
Company Ltd and AKB Residential Ltd, among others. It is our intention to enter into9 
a joint venture partnership with a developer in order to both participate and ensure 
that timely development of the site. 

Delivery Information: 
Site BLA04/A is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site 
as set out in the Councils trajectory during 2026/2027. This assumes the allocation is 
adopted quickly and the procedure described in the Application Status above is 
timely and efficient. 

Raven Land Management Ltd 
Pippin Heath Sawmill 
Hunworth Road 
Holt 
Norfolk 
NR25v6SS 

Tel:  07972 894201 
Email:  tws@ravenlm.co.uk 
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Registered in England Number: 7479130 Directors: T W Schofield S L Schofield 
Registered Office: 3 New Street Chambers, New Street, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 6JJ

Further Comments: 
Both the landowners are concerned that neither they nor Jim Henman were notified 
of the previous stage of the Local Plan Adoption Process namely the Consultations 
conducted by the Planning Inspectorate in November and December last year.  

We should have been notified of these hearings by the Council including the time and 
date that BLA04/A was being discussed. I have been made aware that the Planning 
Inspector commented at the public consultation that he was surprised that there 
wasn’t any representation from the land owners present. Concerning the comments 
made by the Planning Inspector regarding the need for further allocations to be made 
with regard to housing allocations to address the shortfall we would have introduced 
the attached plan which shows the l wider land holding around BLA04A owned by my 
clients.  

We believe that the additional land edged blue, to the south of the BLA04/A would 
achieve the same scores as the current proposed allocation in the Local Plan 
process. This would place it as the most sustainable and logical further extension site 
to Blakeney after BLA04/A (which achieved the highest score).  

In consideration of the above information we look forward to the Council carrying the 
BLA04A site forward as a housing allocation in the proposed Local Plan and, if the 
Council is minded to include further land as a “Phase 2” Allocation the blue land 
could be included for delivery at a later date during the plan period. 

Please do let me know if you have any queries regarding the above and we look 
forward to receiving notification of the relevant Hearing Sessions in April in due 
course. We request that we are allowed to make representations at the Hearing 
Sessions, as stated above we did not do so at the Consultations as we were not 
notified by you. 

Yours sincerely 

Tim Schofield 
Director 
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north-west boundary in applicant
s ownership would
have gaps in hedge re-planted with native hedging
prior to commencement of development ensuring hedge
is established once development completed. This and the
existing hedging could be allowed to grow higher which
would ensure that the development is screened which,
along with a tree planted buffer, would address any
negative visual impact when viewed from the Langham
Road approach.

dotted lines indicate potential routes for new
public footpaths which could link 1. the new path
to the Langham Road side of the development
to the public bridleway �A� and 2. the existing footpath �B�
to the public bridleway �A� to the south. Footpath �B� is a
well-used local route and the potential to link this to the
Bridleway �A� could widen this benefit.  The new footpath
would offer walkers improved views to St Nicholas Church

The adjacent land to the South is in the same ownership as BLA04-A.
The owners would be keen to plant an area with native tree planting to
provide screening and a natural buffer to the South and Eastern sides
of the site. Land falls away gently to the North so tree planting could be
relatively low and still provide screening when viewed from the south.
Layered landscaping would be appropriateon these edges to provide a
less abrupt edge than currently exists. There is an opportunity in this
area for habitat creation and enhancement and improving ecological
connectivity. Tree planting and landscaping in this area would take
place prior to the commencement of development allowing it to be well
established once development is complete.

1.5 and 2 storey houses with single
storey garages and extensions to
produce varied massing.
South facing gardens.

2.4x59m visibility splay

2.4x59m visibility splay

existing footpath to be extended into the site

existing public footpath provides pedestrian route through to Saxlingham Road,
and the Church and primary school. The southern edge would be landscaped to
create a wooded walk and which would act as an additional landscaped buffer
between BLA04-A and the .ingsway development and contribute to the residential
amenity of both developments. Tree planting to include: Bird cherry Prunus padus,
Field maple Acer campestre, *uelder rose 9iburnum opulus , Hazel Corylus avellana,
Hornbeam Carpinus betulus, Holly Ilex aTuifolium, Silver birch Betula pendula,
Wild privet Ligustrum vulgare, Rowan Sorbus aucuparia

Eastern boundary in applicant
s ownership would
have gaps in hedge re-planted with native hedging
prior to commencement of development ensuring
hedge is established once development completed.
This and the existing hedging could be allowed to
grow higher which would ensure that the development
is screened when viewed from the east.

Public Bridleway �A�

Public Bridleway �A�

Planting to the landscaped edge to be selected from the following:

Trees and shrubs:
Bird cherry Prunus padus
Field maple Acer campestre
*uelder rose 9iburnum opulus
Hazel Corylus avellana
Hornbeam Carpinus betulus
Holly Ilex aTuifolium
Silver birch Betula pendula
Wild privet Ligustrum vulgare
Rowan Sorbus aucuparia

*rasses:
Annual meadow grass Poa annua
Creeping bent Agrostis capillaris
Crested dog¶s tail Cynosurus cristatus
Hard fescue Festuca brevipila
Perennial rye grass Lolium perenne
Red fescue Festuca rubra

Wildflowers:
.napweed Centaurea nigra
Red clover Trifolium pratense
Bird¶s-foot trefoil Lotus corniculatus
Fleabane Pulicaria dysenterica
Red fescue Festuca rubra
Cowslip Primula veris
<arrow Achillea millefolium
Agrimony Agrimonia eupatoria
Bulbous buttercup Ranunculus bulbosus Devil¶s-bit scabious Succisa pratensis
Hoary mullein 9erbascum pulverulentum <ellow rattle Rhinanthus minor
Red bartsia 2dontites verna

Trees to gardens to include Downy Birch, Cherry, Hazel, Rowan and Field Maple

row of existing pine trees existing Public Footpath �B�

Site Proposal. Land to the East of Langham Road Blakeney.

Drawing original size: A2

Copyright in all documents and drawings shall remain the property of James Henman
unless otherwise agreed in writing. Copyright in any work executed from these documents
and drawings shall remain the property of James Henman unless otherwise agreed in writing.

Unless indicated, this drawing is for information only.
Do not scale, use figured dimensions only.
All dimensions to be checked on site
Do not scale from CAD file.
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From: peter@seven22.co.uk
To: Chris Brown
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land West of Astley Primary School (BRI02)
Date: 14 March 2025 06:16:55
Attachments: image001.png

Good morning Chris

I have added comments alongside your schedule in blue. Apologies for the delay in getting back
to you.

Kind regards

Peter

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318

North Norfolk District Council Twitter

Facebook

NNDC Net Zero Strategy

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 06 March 2025 14:05
To: peter@seven22.co.uk
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land West of Astley Primary School (BRI02)

Dear Peter,

Land West of Astley Primary School (BRI02)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early
April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council
supporting your allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability please can you re-
confirm the information provided by you previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the
April hearing sessions. It is essential that the information is accurate and as up to date as
possible prior to the hearing sessions as the Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to
discuss the delivery of all sites in the Local Plan.

Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

BRI01 & BRI02/C
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Application Status This site has been subject to pre-application
advice:

Answer: DE21/23/2753 submitted 21/12/2023.
Advice issued 26/06/2024.

A formal planning application has not yet been
submitted. Please provide details of the expected
timeframe for submitting an application:

Answer: In the next 5 weeks – subject to consultant
information being produced

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
MIQs)

Please confirm that the following developer is
involved with this site. If this is inaccurate, or
multiple developers are involved, please provide
details:

Answer: Scenic Homes - Correct

Nutrient Neutrality This site is subject to Nutrient Neutrality
mitigation. Please re-confirm by answering Yes/No
that the below information is correct regarding how
the mitigation is intended to be provided:

Mitigation Method: On-site mitigation (package
treatment plant (PTP))

Answer: We confirm we are progressing designs
currently and are nearly ready to make a full planning
submission. We have been finalising the drainage
strategy, having previously pursued options for the
creation of wetland areas, riparian buffers and taking
very large amounts of land out of agricultural
production in order to meet the Nutrient Neutrality
requirements, we have now changed tack and find it
will be much more practicable and feasible to work
with a package treatment plant (PTP) for the foul
water. We will be able to take all foul and surface
water drainage from our site and remove it from the
Nutrient Neutrality catchment zone with a PTP, our
consultant Royal Haskoning are starting conversations

with the EA and Natural England. - Correct
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Delivery Information:

Site BRI01 / BRI02/C is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site 
as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27 ✔
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

- Correct – The applicant is extremely keen to get started.

We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above information remains
accurate in order to assist with the forthcoming hearings and to help us to secure your
allocation.

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

Twitter
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From: Rob Snowling
To: Chris Brown
Cc: William Page; Tony Hickman
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Runton Road / Clifton Park (C10/1)
Date: 12 March 2025 17:58:07
Attachments: image001.png

image310651.jpg
image619062.png
image487873.png
9113r1 - Odour Assessment - Cromer Road, Cromer.pdf

Dear Chris,

Thanks for your email. Please see below with updates, and/or confirmation that there has been no change.

In addition to the information provided previously, we have also carried out an odour assessment to confirm that the position, as advised by Anglian Water in
2019, is still the case.

Please see attached Odour Risk Assessment report prepared by Redmore Environmental, which confirms that potential odour impacts do not represent a constraint
to the delivery of the site.

As detailed below we have agreed terms with Crocus Homes to bring forward delivery of the site. Matt Davidson, Managing Director of Crocus Homes will be
attending the hearing session on 9th April alongside Dr Graham Hopkins (Ecologist) and myself.

Please let me know if you have any queries or require any further information.

If it would be helpful to have a further discussion about the site ahead of the hearing session on 9th April, then please let me know.

Best regards,

Rob

Rob Snowling​​​​  
Director ‑ Planning

01284 766200 | 07469 141802
r.snowling@pigeon.co.uk | www.pigeon.co.uk
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
Sent: 06 March 2025 14:12
To: Rob Snowling <r.snowling@pigeon.co.uk>
Cc: William Page <w.page@pigeon.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Runton Road / Clifton Park (C10/1)

Dear Rob,

Land at Runton Road / Clifton Park (C10/1)

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

Answer: A formal planning application is expected to be submitted within
6 months (as of February 2025). No change

Developer Engagement (this is in reference to Is there a developer(s) involved with the site allocation? If there is, please

C10/1
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Executive Summary 


 


Redmore Environmental Ltd was commissioned by Pigeon Capital Management 5 Limited to 


provide an Odour Assessment in support of a residential development on land off Cromer Road, 


Cromer.  


 


The site is located in the vicinity of Cromer/Runton Middlebrook Way Water Recycling Centre 


which is operated by Anglian Water. Odour emissions from the facility have the potential to 


cause loss of amenity for future residents of the scheme. An Odour Assessment was therefore 


undertaken to evaluate potential effects at the site and consider its suitability for the proposed 


end-use.  


 


The risk of potential odour impact was assessed using a standard industry method. This involved 


consideration of a number of factors relating to the Water Recycling Centre including the scale 


and nature of the potential emission sources, the location of the proposed development and the 


prevailing meteorological conditions. 


 


Following consideration of the relevant factors, overall effects at the site as a result of emissions 


from the Water Recycling Centre were not predicted to be significant. As such, potential odour 


impacts are not considered to represent a constraint to the proposals.  







Date: 28th February 2025 


Ref:  9113 


 


Page iii  


Table of Contents 


 


1.0 INTRODUCTION 1 


1.1 Background 1 


1.2 Site Location and Context 1 


2.0 ODOUR BACKGROUND 3 


2.1 Odour Definition 3 


2.2 Odour Impacts 3 


2.3 Odour Legislative Control 4 


2.4 National Planning Policy 5 


2.5 Local Planning Policy 5 


2.6 Institute of Air Quality Management Guidance 7 


3.0 METHODOLOGY 8 


3.1 Introduction 8 


3.2 Background 8 


3.3 Risk Assessment Procedure 9 


4.0 BASELINE 14 


4.1 Introduction 14 


4.2 Site Description 14 


4.3 Odour Sources 14 


4.4 Meteorological Conditions 15 


5.0 ASSESSMENT 17 


5.1 Risk Assessment Error! Bookmark not defined. 


5.2 Summary Error! Bookmark not defined. 


6.0 CONCLUSION 19 


7.0 ABBREVIATIONS 20 


 


Appendix 


 


Appendix 1 - Curricula Vitae 


 


 







Date: 28th February 2025 


Ref:  9113 


 


Page 1  


1.0 INTRODUCTION 


 


1.1 Background 


 


1.1.1 Redmore Environmental Ltd was commissioned by Pigeon Capital Management 5 Limited 


to provide an Odour Assessment in support of a residential development on land off 


Cromer Road, Cromer.  


 


1.1.2 The development is located in the vicinity of Cromer/Runton Middlebrook Way Water 


Recycling Centre (WRC) which is operated by Anglian Water (AW). Odour emissions from 


the facility have the potential to cause loss of amenity for future residents of the scheme. 


An Odour Assessment was therefore undertaken to evaluate potential effects at the site 


and consider its suitability for the proposed end-use. 


 


1.2 Site Location and Context 


 


1.2.1 The proposed development is located on land off Cromer Road, Cromer, at approximate 


National Grid Reference (NGR): 620650, 342115. Reference should be made to Figure 1 


for a map of the site and surrounding area. 


 


1.2.2 The proposals comprise the construction of circa 90 dwellings and inclusion of land for a 


two-form entry primary school, alongside green infrastructure and open space.  


 


1.2.3 The scheme is located approximately 120m north of the of Cromer/Runton Middlebrook 


Way WRC which is operated by AW. A previous Phase 1 (Desk Study) Environment Report1 


was prepared by BHA Consulting Ltd in June 2019 in relation to the site. Consultation2 was 


undertaken with AW at the time of the assessment in order to determine the potential for 


odour impacts at the proposed scheme. AW confirmed that the WRC is a completely 


enclosed treatment system with a single abated exhaust point to atmosphere and that 


the potential for odour to be detected at the site is minimal.  


 


 


1  Phase 1 (Desk Study) Environment Report, BHA Consulting Ltd, 2019. 


2  Consultation response, AW, 2019. 







Date: 28th February 2025 


Ref:  9113 


 


Page 2  


1.2.4 Following additional consultation for the site, a further response was received from AW in 


January 20253 raising concerns that odour from the WRC may lead to loss of amenity for 


future users and requesting an Odour Assessment in support of development of the site. In 


order to address these comments, an Odour Risk Assessment has been undertaken. This is 


detailed in the following report. 


 


 


3  Consultation response, AW, 2025. 
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2.0 ODOUR BACKGROUND 


 


2.1 Odour Definition 


 


2.1.1 The Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) guidance4 defines odour as: 


 


"[…] the human olfactory response (perception followed by psychological 


appraisal) to one, or more often a complex mixture of, chemical species 


in the air." 


 


2.1.2 The stated definition is considered to be relevant in the context of this assessment. 


 


2.2 Odour Impacts 


 


2.2.1 The magnitude of odour impact depends on a number of factors and the potential for 


complaints varies due to the subjective nature of odour perception. The FIDOL acronym 


(also stated as FIDOR in Environment Agency (EA) guidance5) is a useful reminder of the 


factors that will determine the degree of odour pollution. These are described by the 


IAQM6 as follows: 


 


• Frequency - how often an individual is exposed to odour; 


• Intensity - the individual’s perception of the strength of the odour; 


• Duration - The overall duration that individuals are exposed to an odour over time; 


• Odour unpleasantness - Odour unpleasantness describes the character of an odour 


as it relates to the ‘hedonic tone’ (which may be pleasant, neutral or unpleasant) at 


a given odour concentration/ intensity. This can be measured in the laboratory as 


the hedonic tone, and when measured by the standard method and expressed on 


a standard nine-point scale it is termed the hedonic score; and, 


• Location - The type of land use and nature of human activities in the vicinity of an 


odour source. Tolerance and expectation of the receptor. The ‘Location’ factor can 


be considered to encompass the receptor characteristics, receptor sensitivity, and 


socio-economic factors. 


 


4  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 


5  H4: Odour Management, EA, 2011. 


6  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 
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2.2.2 The FIDOL factors can be considered further to provide the following issues in regard to 


the potential for an odour emission to cause a nuisance: 


 


• The rate of emission of the compound(s); 


• The duration and frequency of emissions; 


• The time of the day that this emission occurs; 


• The prevailing meteorology; 


• The sensitivity of receptors to the emission i.e. whether the odorous compound is 


more likely to cause nuisance, such as the sick or elderly, who may be more 


sensitive; 


• The odour detection capacity of individuals to the various compound(s); and, 


• The individual perception of the odour (i.e. whether the odour is regarded as 


unpleasant). This is greatly subjective and may vary significantly from individual to 


individual. For example, some individuals may consider some odours as pleasant, 


such as petrol, paint and creosote. 


 


2.3 Odour Legislative Control 


 


2.3.1 The main requirement with respect to odour control from premises not controlled under 


the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations (2016) and subsequent 


amendments, such as WRCs, is that provided in Section 79 of Part III of the Environmental 


Protection Act (1990). The Act defines nuisance as:  


 


"Any dust, steam, odour or other effluvia arising on industrial, trade or business 


premises and being prejudicial to health or a nuisance."  


 


2.3.2 Enforcement of the Act, in regard to nuisance, is currently under the jurisdiction of the 


local Environmental Health Department, whose officers are deemed to provide an 


independent evaluation of nuisance. If the Local Authority is satisfied that a statutory 


nuisance exists, or is likely to occur or happen again, it must serve an Abatement Notice 


under Part III of the Environmental Protection Act (1990). The only defence is to show that 


the process to which the nuisance has been attributed and its operation are being 


controlled according to best practicable means. 


 


2.3.3 The legislative controls described above were considered as necessary throughout the 


undertaking of this assessment. 
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2.4 National Planning Policy 


 


2.4.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework7 (NPPF) was published in December 2024 


and sets out the Government's planning policies for England and how these are 


expected to be applied.   


 


2.4.2 The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable 


development. In order to ensure this, the NPPF recognises three overarching objectives, 


including the following of relevance to odour: 


 


"c) An environmental objective - to protect and enhance our natural, built and 


historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving 


biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, 


and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low 


carbon economy" 


 


2.4.3 Chapter 12 of the NPPF details objectives in relation to achieving well-designed place. It 


states that: 


 


"Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  


 


f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health 


and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and 


where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of 


life or community cohesions and resilience." 


 


2.4.4 The implications of the NPPF have been considered throughout this assessment. 


 


2.5 Local Planning Policy 


 


2.5.1 The current local development plan for North Norfolk District Council (NNDC) is the Core 


Strategy8, adopted in September 2008. Review of the document indicated the following 


policy of relevance to this assessment:  


 


7  NPPF, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2024. 


8  Core Strategy, NNDC, 2008. 
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"Policy EN4 


 


Design 


 


[…] 


 


Proposals should not have a significantly detrimental effect on the residential 


amenity of nearby occupiers and new dwellings should provide acceptable 


residential amenity. […]" 


 


2.5.2 NNDC are currently producing the North Norfolk Local Plan 2016 - 20369. The proposed 


submission version published in January 2022 was reviewed and the following policies of 


relevance to this assessment identified:  


 


"Policy ENV 6 


 


Protection of Amenity 


 


1. All new development will provide for a high standard of amenity including 


adequate living and working conditions. This standard should be achieved and 


maintained without preventing or unreasonably restricting the continued 


operation of established authorised uses and activities on adjacent sites. 


 


2. Development will not be permitted which causes unacceptable impacts on the 


amenity of neighbouring occupants, or does not provide for adequate levels of 


amenity for future occupants. 


 


3. In assessing the impact of development on the living and working conditions of 


existing or future occupants, proposals will be in conformity with the North Norfolk 


Design Guide SPD or provide a justification for any departure from this, having 


regard to the following considerations: 


 


[…] 


 


 


9  North Norfolk Local Plan 2016 - 2036, NNDC, 2022. 
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d. prevention of disturbance from odour, noise, vibration, dust, air and artificial 


light pollution."  


 


2.5.3 The above policies have been taken into account throughout the undertaking of this 


assessment. 


 


2.6 Institute of Air Quality Management Guidance 


 


2.6.1 The IAQM published the 'Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning'10 document 


on 20th May 2014. This was updated in 201811 and specifically deals with assessing odour 


impacts for planning purposes, namely potential effects on amenity. The assessment 


methodology outlined in the guidance has been utilised in throughout this report where 


relevant. 


 


10  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning, IAQM, 2014. 


11  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 
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3.0 METHODOLOGY 


 


3.1 Introduction 


 


3.1.1 Odour emissions associated with the WRC have the potential to cause impacts at the 


proposed site. The potential risk of adverse effects has therefore been assessed using the 


IAQM 'Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1'12 document. The relevant 


methodology is summarised in the following Sections. 


 


3.2 Background 


 


3.2.1 The basic concept of risk assessment is that the overall risk depends on the probability of 


an event occurring together with the likely consequences if it was to occur. For odour 


assessments the probability can be considered as the likelihood of exposure (impact), 


and the consequence can be considered to be the effect on the receptor if that 


exposure (impact) took place. These two facets can be summarised by the source-


pathway-receptor concept. 


 


3.2.2 Behind the source-pathway-receptor concept, is the fundamental relationship: 


 


Effect ≈ Dose x Response 


 


3.2.3 In the specific case of odour assessments, the dose can be considered equivalent to the 


odour exposure, or impact. This will be determined by FIDO of the FIDOL factors. The 


effect is the result of the changes on specific receptors (people in the case of odour) 


taking into account their sensitivities (i.e. responsiveness to odour), the L (location) in 


FIDOL is to categorise the sensitivity. 


 


3.2.4 The IAQM guidance states that a qualitative risk-based approach is appropriate for: 


 


• Screening of odour impacts; 


• Development proposals likely to have a low risk of adverse effects; 


• Situations where there is insufficient information to carry out detailed predictive 


dispersion modelling; 


 


12  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 
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• Situations where the information has wide uncertainties and its use as input to a 


detailed predictive dispersion model would be at best a waste of time, money and 


effort or, worse, would lead to an illusory and false impression of accuracy and 


precision in the numbers generated; and, 


• When the model is not able to properly represent the reality of the situation being 


assessed, e.g. if the odour effects are likely to be significantly influenced by 


accidental, unexpected, or unknown releases. In such instances a qualitative 


estimate may be more appropriate, on the basis that it is better to be broadly 


correct than precisely wrong. 


 


3.2.5 It is considered that the first, second and third of these criteria are met for this project. As 


such, a qualitative assessment methodology was deemed appropriate. 


 


3.3 Risk Assessment Procedure 


 


3.3.1 The first step in the assessment is to estimate the odour generating potential of the site 


activities. This is termed the Source Odour Potential, which takes into account three 


factors: 


 


• The scale (magnitude) of the release from the odour source, taking into account the 


effectiveness of any odour control or mitigation measures that are already in place. 


This involves judging the relative size of the release rate after mitigation and taking 


account of any pattern of release (e.g. intermittency); 


• How inherently odorous the emission is. In some cases it may be known whether the 


release has a low, medium or high Odour Detection Threshold (ODT). This is the 


concentration at which an odour becomes detectable to the human nose. In most 


instances the odours released by a source will be a complex mixture of compounds 


and the detectability will not be known. However, for some industrial processes the 


odour will be due to one or a small number of known compounds and the detection 


thresholds will be a good indication of whether the release is highly odorous or mildly 


odorous; and, 


• The relative pleasantness/unpleasantness of the odour. 


 


3.3.2 Using the example risk ranking in Table 1, the Source Odour Potential can be categorised 


as small, medium or large. 
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Table 1 Source Odour Potential 


Source Odour 


Potential 


Comments 


Large Magnitude - Larger Environmentally Permitted processes of odorous nature or 


large Sewage Treatment Works (STWs); materials usage hundreds of thousands 


of tonnes/m3 per year; area sources of thousands of m2. The compounds 


involved are very odorous (e.g. mercaptans), having very low ODTs where 


known 


Unpleasantness - processes classed as "Most offensive" in EA Guidance H413; or 


(where known) compounds/odours having unpleasant (-2) to very unpleasant 


(-4) hedonic score 


Mitigation/control - open air operation with no containment, reliance solely on 


good management techniques and best practice 


Medium Magnitude - Smaller Environmentally Permitted processes or small STWs; 


materials usage thousands of tonnes/m3 per year; area sources of hundreds of 


m2. The compounds involved are moderately odorous 


Unpleasantness - processes classed in EA Guidance H414 as "Moderately 


offensive"; or (where known) odours having neutral (0) to unpleasant (-2) 


hedonic score 


Mitigation/control - some mitigation measures in place, but significant residual 


odour remains 


Small Magnitude - Falls below Environmental Permit Part B threshold; materials usage 


hundreds of tonnes/m3 per year; area sources of tens m2. The compounds 


involved are only mildly odorous, having relatively high ODTs where known 


Unpleasantness - processes classed as "Less offensive" in EA Guidance H415; or 


(where known) compounds/odours having neutral (0) to very pleasant (+4) 


hedonic score 


Mitigation/control - effective, tangible mitigation measures in place leading to 


little or no residual odour 


 


3.3.3 The next step is to estimate the effectiveness of the pollutant pathway as the transport 


mechanism for odour through the air to the receptor, versus the dilution/dispersion in the 


atmosphere. Any factor that increases dilution and dispersion of the plume as it travels 


from source to receptor will reduce the concentration at the end point, and hence 


reduce exposure. Important factors for consideration are: 


 


• The distance between sensitive receptors and the odour source; 


 


13  H4: Odour Management, EA, 2011. 


14  H4: Odour Management, EA, 2011. 


15  H4: Odour Management, EA, 2011. 
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• Whether receptors are downwind with respect to the prevailing wind direction. 


Odour episodes often tend to occur during stable atmospheric conditions with low 


wind speed, which gives poor dispersion and dilution. Receptors close to the source 


in all directions can be affected under these conditions. When circumstances are 


not calm, it will be the downwind receptors that are affected. As such, receptors 


that are downwind with respect to the prevailing wind direction tend to be at higher 


risk of odour impact; 


• The effectiveness of the point of release in promoting good dispersion e.g. releasing 


emissions from a high stack will increase the pathway, dilution and dispersion; and, 


• The topography and terrain between the source and receptor. The presence of 


topographical features such as hills and valleys, or urban terrain features such as 


buildings, can affect air flow and therefore increase, or inhibit, dispersion and 


dilution. 


 


3.3.4 Using the example risk ranking in Table 2, the pollutant pathway from source to receptor 


can be categorised as ineffective, moderately effective or highly effective. 


 


Table 2 Pathway Effectiveness 


Pathway 


Effectiveness 


Comments 


Highly 


effective 


Distance - receptor is adjacent to the source/site; distance well below any 


official set-back distances 


Direction - high frequency of winds from source to receptor, or, qualitatively, 


receptors downwind of source with respect to prevailing wind 


Effectiveness of dispersion/dilution - open processes with low-level releases, e.g. 


lagoons, uncovered effluent treatment plant, landfilling of putrescible wastes 


Moderately 


effective 


Distance - receptor is local to the source 


Where mitigation relies on dispersion/dilution - releases are elevated, but 


compromised by building effects 


Ineffective Distance - receptor is remote from the source; distance exceeds any official 


set-back distances 


Direction - low frequency of winds from source to receptor, or, qualitatively, 


receptors upwind of source with respect to prevailing wind 


Where mitigation relies on dispersion/dilution - releases are from high level (e.g. 


stacks, or roof vents greater than 3m above ridge height) and are not 


compromised by surrounding buildings 


 


3.3.5 The sensitivity of the receiving receptor is defined based on the criteria shown in Table 3. 
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Table 3 Odour Receptor Sensitivity 


Sensitivity Description 


High Surrounding land where: 


• Users can reasonably expect enjoyment of a high level of amenity; and, 


• People would reasonably be expected to be present here continuously, or at 


least regularly for extended periods, as part of the normal pattern of use of the 


land 


Examples may include residential dwellings, hospitals, schools/education and 


tourist/cultural 


Medium Surrounding land where: 


• Users would expect to enjoy a reasonable level of amenity, but would not 


reasonably expect to enjoy the same level of amenity as in their home; or, 


• People would not reasonably be expected to be present here continuously or 


regularly for extended periods as part of the normal pattern of use of the land 


Examples may include places of work, commercial/retail premises and 


playing/recreation fields 


Low Surrounding land where: 


• The enjoyment of amenity would not reasonably be expected; or, 


• There is transient exposure, where the people would reasonably be expected 


to present only for limited periods of time as part of the normal pattern of use of 


the land 


Examples may include industrial use, farms, footpaths and roads 


 


3.3.6 The estimates of Source Odour Potential and Pathway Effectiveness are considered 


together to predict the risk of odour exposure (impact) at the receptor location, as shown 


by the matrix in Table 4. 


 


Table 4 Risk of Odour Exposure 


Pathway Effectiveness Source Odour Potential 


Small Medium Large 


Highly effective Low  Medium High 


Moderately effective Negligible Low  Medium 


Ineffective Negligible Negligible Low  


 


3.3.7 The final step is to determine the significance of odour effect at the specified receptor 


location through the interaction between sensitivity and risk, as outlined in Table 5. 
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Table 5 Significance of Odour Effect 


Risk of Odour 


Exposure 


Receptor Sensitivity 


Low Medium High 


High Slight Moderate Substantial 


Medium Negligible Slight Moderate 


Low  Negligible Negligible Slight 


Negligible Negligible Negligible Negligible 


 


3.3.8 The IAQM guidance16 states that an assessment must reach a conclusion on the likely 


significance of the predicted impact. Where the overall effect is moderate or substantial, 


the effect is likely to be considered significant, whilst if the effect is slight or negligible, the 


impact is likely to be considered not significant. It should be noted that this is a binary 


judgement of either it is significant or it is not significant. This has been considered to 


determine the overall significance of potential odour effects associated with the 


development. 


 


3.3.9 The IAQM guidance recognises that assessment of odour requires some degree of 


professional judgement17. Qualitative methodologies such as those utilised within this 


report provide guidance for assessing potential impacts. However, professional 


judgement should be exercised in order to take account of the specific details which are 


unique to each development. This has been considered as necessary throughout the 


assessment. The IAQM also suggest that the assessor's qualifications and experience are 


detailed within an Odour Assessment. These are provided in Appendix 1.  


 


 


16  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 


17  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 
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4.0 BASELINE 


 


4.1 Introduction 


 


4.1.1 Existing conditions in the vicinity of the site were identified in order to provide a baseline 


for the assessment. These are detailed in the following Sections. 


 


4.2 Site Description 


 


4.2.1 The proposed development is located in a coastal area within the town of Cromer, 


Norfolk. The site is bordered to the west by Seacroft Caravan and Motorhome Club 


Website, to the north by Cromer Road, to the east by existing residential properties and to 


the south by a railway line with the WRC beyond. 


 


4.3 Odour Sources 


 


4.3.1 The site is located approximately 30m north of the Cromer/Runton Middlebrook Way 


WRC. A consultation response18 received from AW following submission of the report 


prepared by BHA Consulting Ltd19 indicates the following regarding the WRC: 


 


• Processes at the site are enclosed within buildings; 


• There is one main odour source on the site, which is a stack serving an Odour Control 


Unit (OCU) which treats emissions from the majority of processes at the WRC; 


• Any future expansion of the works would continue to be vented via the stack; and, 


• Intermittent, fugitive emissions from tanker loading and maintenance activities may 


occur.  


 


4.3.2 The nearest proposed residential dwelling is located approximately 100m from the OCU 


stack. Reference should be made to Figure 2 for an indicative site layout plan. 


 


4.3.3 As emissions from tanker loading and maintenance will be infrequent and would not be 


considered routine operation at the WRC, they have not been considered further within 


the assessment.   


 


18  Consultation response, AW, 2019. 


19  Phase 1 (Desk Study) Environment Report, BHA Consulting Ltd, 2019. 
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4.4 Meteorological Conditions 


 


4.4.1 The potential for atmospheric emissions to impact at sensitive locations depends 


significantly on the meteorology, particularly wind direction, during release. In order to 


consider prevailing conditions at the site, review of historical weather data was 


undertaken. Meteorological data used in the assessment was obtained from Norwich 


Airport Meteorological Station at NGR: 622041, 313948, which is approximately 28.1km 


south of the site boundary. It is considered that conditions are likely to be reasonably 


similar over a distance of this magnitude and the information is a suitable source of data 


for an assessment of this nature. 


 


4.4.2 Meteorological data was obtained from Norwich Airport Meteorological Station over the 


period 1st January 2019 to 31st December 2023 (inclusive). This is summarised in Table 6. 


Reference should be made to Figure 2 for a wind rose of the meteorological data.  


 


Table 6 Wind Frequency Data 


Wind Direction () Frequency of Wind (%) 


345 - 15 5.8 


15 - 45 6.8 


45 - 75 6.1 


75 - 105 5.1 


105 - 135 3.5 


135 - 165 5.5 


165 - 195 11.0 


195 - 225 17.3 


225 - 255 17.7 


255 - 285 9.8 


285 - 315 5.2 


315 - 345 4.4 


Sub-Total  98.1 


Calms  1.4 
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Wind Direction () Frequency of Wind (%) 


Missing/Incomplete  0.5 


 


4.4.3 As shown in Table 6, the prevailing wind direction at the site is from the south-west. Winds 


from the north and east are relatively infrequent, which is indicative of conditions 


throughout the majority of the UK. 


 


4.4.4 All meteorological data used in the assessment was provided by Atmospheric Dispersion 


Modelling Ltd, which is an established distributor of meteorological data within the UK.  
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5.0 ASSESSMENT 


 


5.1.1 The development has the potential to exposure future residents to odour emissions from 


Cromer/Runton Middlebrook Way WRC. The risk of potential impact was therefore 


assessed in accordance with the previously stated IAQM methodology20.  


 


5.1.2 The first step was to classify the Source Odour Potential for the WwTWs. This was classified 


as small due to the following considerations: 


 


• The WRC is a small facility and does not operate in accordance with an 


Environmental Permit. This would result in a classification of small in isolation;  


• Odours from WwTWs are usually classified as 'moderately offensive' in accordance 


with EA guidance H421 which corresponds to medium source odour potential in 


accordance with the IAQM guidance criteria. However, as emissions from the site 


area abated via an OCU which would affect the hedonic score of residual releases, 


a classification of small is considered appropriate; and, 


• Sources at the site are housed within buildings to provide effective containment of 


fugitive odours, with all releases abated by the OCU prior to release. As such, it is 


considered that effective, tangible mitigation measures are in place leading to little 


residual odour. This would result in a classification of small in isolation. 


 


5.1.3 The Pathway Effectiveness was subsequently defined based on the separation distance 


between the development and the WRC, the prevailing meteorological conditions the 


emission dispersion arrangements for existing sources.  


 


5.1.4 The Pathway Effectiveness was defined as moderately effective. This is due to the 


following:  


 


• The closest proposed residential unit is local to the source, approximately 100m to 


the north-west of the OCU stack; 


• There is a moderate frequency of winds from sectors which are potentially 


conducive to odour transfer to the residential areas of the development (17.3% - 


17.7%);  


 


20  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 


21  H4: Odour Management, Environment Agency, 2011. 
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• Sources at the site are contained and not open to atmosphere. Emissions are 


treated via an OCU prior to discharge to atmosphere; and, 


• Releases are from high level and are not compromised by surrounding buildings. 


 


5.1.5 The land use is residential and is therefore considered of high sensitivity in accordance 


with the classifications shown in Table 3. 


 


5.1.6 The above information was used to assess odour risk and effect significance at the 


proposed development. This is summarised in Table 7. 


 


Table 7 Odour Risk Assessment 


Source Source 


Odour 


Potential 


Pathway 


Effectiveness 


Exposure Risk Sensitivity Effect 


Significance 


Cromer/Runton 


Middlebrook 


Way WRC 


Small Moderately 


effective 


Negligible High Negligible 


 


5.1.7 As shown in Table 7, the predicted odour effect significance was negligible at the 


proposed development. This aligns with the original information provided by AW in 2019. 


 


5.1.8 The IAQM guidance states that only if the impact is moderate or substantial, the effect is 


considered significant. As such, potential impacts at the development as a result of 


emissions from Cromer/Runton Middlebrook Way WRC are considered to be not 


significant, in accordance with the stated methodology. 
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6.0 CONCLUSION 


 


6.1.1 Redmore Environmental was commissioned by Pigeon Capital Management 5 Limited to 


provide an Odour Assessment in support of a residential development on land off Cromer 


Road, Cromer.  


 


6.1.2 The site is located in the vicinity of Cromer/Runton Middlebrook Way WRC. Odour 


emissions from the facility have the potential to cause loss of amenity for future residents. 


As such, an Odour Assessment was undertaken in order to evaluate potential effects at 


the site and consider its suitability for the proposed end-use.  


 


6.1.3 The risk of potential odour effects at the development was assessed using the IAQM 


methodology. This included consideration of the Source Odour Potential, Pathway 


Effectiveness and receptor sensitivity. The results of the assessment indicated the 


predicted odour effect significance was negligible at the development as a result of 


emissions from the WRC. This aligns with the original information provided by AW in 2019. 


 


6.1.4 The IAQM guidance22 states that only if the impact is moderate or substantial, the effect is 


considered significant. As such, based on the assessment results, potential odour effects 


at the development as a result of emissions from the WRC are considered to be not 


significant. Odour is therefore not considered to represent a constraint to the scheme. 


 


 


 


22  Guidance on the Assessment of Odour for Planning, v1.1, IAQM, 2018. 
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7.0 ABBREVIATIONS 


 


AW Anglian Water 


EA Environment Agency 


IAQM Institute of Air Quality Management 


NGR National Grid Reference 


NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 


ODT Odour Detection Threshold 


STW Sewage Treatment Works 


WRC Water Recycling Centre 
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JETHRO REDMORE 


Director 


BEng (Hons), MSc, MIAQM, MIEnvSc, PIEMA, CEnv 


 


KEY EXPERIENCE: 1.1.1 KEY EXPERIENCE: KEY EXPERIENCE: 


7.1.1 Jethro is a Chartered 


Environmentalist and Director of 


Redmore Environmental with 


specialist experience in the air 


quality and odour sectors. His key 


capabilities include:  


• Production and 


management of Air Quality, 


Dust and Odour Assessments 


for a wide-range of clients 


from the retail, residential, 


infrastructure, commercial 


and industrial sectors.  


• Production and co-ordination 


of Environmental Permit 


applications for a variety of 


industrial sectors.  


• Detailed dispersion modelling 


of road vehicle and industrial 


emissions using ADMS-Roads, 


ADMS-5, AERMOD-PRIME and 


BREEZE-ROADS. Studies have 


included impact assessment 


of ground level pollutant and 


odour concentrations and 


assessment of suitability of 


development sites for 


proposed end-use.  


• Project management and 


co-ordination of 


Environmental Impact 


Assessments and scoping 


reports for developments 


throughout the UK.  


• Provision of expert witness 


services at Planning Inquiries. 


• Design and project 


management of pollutant 


monitoring campaigns. 


• Co-ordination and 


management of large-scale 


multi-disciplinary projects and 


submissions. 


• Provision of expert advice to 


local government and 


international environmental 


bodies, as well as 


involvement in production of 


industry guidance. 


 


7.1.2 Jethro is a Chartered 


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


1.1.2  


7.1.3 Jethro is a Chartered 


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
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CERI HAINES 


Senior Air Quality Consultant 


BSc (Hons), MSc,  


Tel: 0161 706 0075 | Email: ceri.haines@red-env.co.uk 


  


 


7.1.4 KEY EXPERIENCE: 7.1.5 SELECT PROJECTS SUMMARY:  


7.1.6 Ceri is a Senior Environmental 


Consultant with specialist 


experience in the air quality 


sector. Her key capabilities 


include: 


• Production of Air Quality 


Assessments in accordance 


with Department for 


Environment, Food and Rural 


Affairs (DEFRA) 


methodologies for a range of 


residential, commercial and 


industrial sectors. 


• Detailed dispersion modelling 


of road vehicle exhaust 


emissions using ADMS-Roads. 


Studies have included 


assessment of road traffic 


exhaust emissions on sensitive 


receptors and exposure of 


new residents to poor air 


quality. 


• Advanced Canyon 


Modelling to evaluate the 


impact of altered urban 


topography on air quality in 


built up areas. 


• Assessment of construction 


dust impacts from a range of 


development sizes. 


• Definition of baseline air 


quality and identification of 


sensitive areas across the UK. 


• Odour surveys to assess 


amenity and suitability of sites 


for potential future 


development for residential 


use.  


 


Warren Street, Stockport 


7.1.7 Air Quality Assessment in support 


of a residential-led development 


comprising 553 apartments and 


two commercial units located in 


an Air Quality Management Area 


(AQMA). The development had 


the potential to expose future 


occupants to poor air quality and 


cause impacts at sensitive 


locations. Detailed dispersion 


modelling and a construction 


dust assessment indicated air 


quality factors were not a 


constraint to the development. 


7.1.8 Belgrave Gate, Leicester 


7.1.9 Air Quality Assessment in support 


of the conversion of an existing 


building to provide three 


residential units on Belgrave Gate, 


Leicester. The scheme was 


located in an AQMA, alongside a 


bus station. As such, the 


development had potential to 


expose future residents to 


elevated pollution levels and 


adverse air quality effects. Results 


of detailed dispersion modelling 


utilising advanced canyons and a 


volume source to represent the 


bus station indicated air quality 


issues were not a constraint to 


planning consent for the 


development. 


7.1.10 Kings Arms Hotel, Stansted 


7.1.11 Odour Assessment in support of a 


Discharge of Condition 


application for a consented 


development on land to the rear 


of the Kings Arms Hotel, Stansted. 


The site was located in close 


proximity to several fast food 


restaurants which have the 


potential to cause odour 


emissions during normal 


operation. A mitigation scheme 


was therefore identified to 


protect future residents from loss 


of amenity. Subject to the 


inclusion of the specified 


mitigation, overall effects of 


odour were considered to be not 


significant at the development.  


7.1.12 Manchester Road West, Little 


Hulton 


7.1.13 Odour Assessment in support of  


construction of 152 residences on 


land off Manchester Road West, 


Little Hulton. The development 


was located in the vicinity of 


several waste management 


facilities which may form a source 


of odour emissions and cause loss 


of amenity for future residents. A 


two stage Odour Assessment was 


undertaken to assess baseline 


conditions across the site and 


consider the risk of reduced 


amenity. Results of the assessment 


indicated odour effects at the site 


did not represent a constraint to 


planning consent. 


7.1.14 Gravel Pit Farm, Sand Hutton 


7.1.15 Odour Assessment in support of 


the conversion of existing 


buildings into two residential 


dwellings on land at Gravel Pit 


Farm, Sand Hutton. The 


development was located in the 


vicinity of the Sand Hutton 


Anaerobic Digestion Plant, which 


may form a source of odour 


emissions and cause loss of 


amenity for future residents. 


Results of a two stage Odour 


Assessment indicated odour 


effects at the site were not 


significant. As such, odour was 


not considered to represent a 


constraint to planning consent. 


7.1.16 A1 Trunk Road, Long Bennington 


7.1.17 Odour Assessment in support of a 


residential development on land 


off the A1 Trunk Road, Long 


Bennington. The development 


was located in the vicinity of a 


maggot farm growing bait for 


fishermen. Results of a two stage 


Odour Assessment indicated that 


at the location of the proposed 


dwellings, impacts were not at a 


level considered to cause loss of 


amenity as a result of emissions. 


As such, odour was not 


considered to represent a 


constraint to planning consent. 
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Question F in the MIQs) specify who:

Answer: The site is the subject of Promotion Agreement between the
landowners (Jane Clifton, Orry Mitchell, Heather Mitchell and Iain Clifton)
and Pigeon. Pigeon has a proven track record of delivery across the
Eastern Region, including Kingsfleet in Thetford (a 5,000 home
sustainable urban extension) and Land at Cromer Road, Hunstanton (120
homes).

We have agreed terms with Crocus Homes (a Norfolk base home builder) to deliver the
scheme. An application is being prepared.

Delivery Information:

Site C10/1 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as
follows:

Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28 ✔
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

Commencement expected in 2027/28 (as above) with first 10 completions in 27/28. 40 completions expected in 28/29. Remaining 20 completions in 29/30.

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
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From: Iain Hill
To: Chris Brown
Subject: FW: Local Plan Site Allocation: Former Golf Practice Ground, Overstrand Road, Cromer (C16)
Date: 14 March 2025 16:50:49
Attachments: ~WRD0001.jpg
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Chris

Completed table below; very minor comments.

We provided separate comments on NN mitigation last week.

If you need any further information please let me know.

Regards

Iain

Iain Hill 
Partner, Planning

Kingfisher House, 1 Gilders Way, Norwich, Norfolk. NR3 1UB 
DD: 01603 229409 | M: 07966 202925 |   bidwells.co.uk

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2025 11:10
To: Iain Hill <iain.hill@bidwells.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Former Golf Practice Ground, Overstrand Road, Cromer
(C16)

Dear Iain,

Former Golf Practice Ground, Overstrand Road, Cromer (C16)

We are writing as we understand that you are an appointed agent for this site. In preparation

C16
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for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early April regarding
the Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council supporting your
allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the
information provided by you previously remains accurate.

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

Application Status The site has planning permission:

Answer: PO/23/0596, approved 10/05/2024.

Please provide details of the expected timeframe
for submitting full/reserved matters application:

Answer: Application due to be submitted March
2025.

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
MIQs)

Please confirm Yes/No that the following developer
is involved with this site. If this is inaccurate, or
multiple developers are involved, please provide
details:

Barrett David Wilson Homes

Answer: Yes

Delivery Information:

Site C16 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in
the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

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

Image removed by sender. North Norfolk District Council Image removed by sender. Twitter

Image removed by sender. Facebook

NNDC Net Zero Strategy
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From: Louise Follett
To: Chris Brown
Cc: Phillip Duncan; Patrick A"hern
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land West of Pine Tree Farm, Cromer (C22/4)
Date: 12 March 2025 14:09:35
Attachments: ~WRD0000.jpg
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Dear Chris,

Many thanks for your email, please find our responses below in red,

Should you have any further queries with regard to this site please do not hesitate to
contact me,

Kind regards,

Louise Follett | MRTPI | Principal Planner  
T 01242 907030 dl 01242 436556 e lf@corylus-ltd.co.uk w www.corylus-ltd.co.uk sm Instagram / LinkedIn
Corylus Planning & Environmental Ltd | The Old Dairy | Yanworth | Cheltenham | Gloucestershire | GL54 3LQ

** Please note my working days are Mon - Thurs **

Advance notice of Annual Leave Mon 7th – Fri 11th April

We take your privacy seriously and will only use your personal information to administer your account and provide the services you
have requested from us.

This message from Corylus Planning & Environmental Ltd. is confidential and subject to copyright. It is intended only for the use of
the individual or entity to which it is addressed.   If you have received this email in error, please advise by return email and delete
the original message from your system.  If you are not the intended recipient of the email, any disclosure, copying, distribution or
use of its contents is strictly prohibited. We reserve the right to monitor any communication entering or leaving our systems for
compliance or quality control/training purposes. We cannot guarantee that this message and any attachments are virus free and
you are advised to use your own virus checks. "Corylus Planning & Environmental Ltd." is a limited company registered in England
under number 5592402 and our registered office is at Oakley House, Tetbury Road, Cirencester, Gloucestershire, GL7 1US 

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2025 11:13
To: Louise Follett <lf@corylus-ltd.co.uk>
Cc: Phillip Duncan <pd@corylus-ltd.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land West of Pine Tree Farm, Cromer (C22/4)

C22/4
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Dear Louise,

Land West of Pine Tree Farm, Cromer (C22/4)

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

Application Status This site has been subject to extensive engagement
with the Council. The site promoter has been engaged
in the Local Plan process since 2018 with regular
meetings between Planning Policy officers and the site
promoter’s planning and technical consultants.
Ongoing engagement between the Council and Site
Promotion Team has assisted the preparation of the
outline application (currently awaiting validation). A
draft Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) has been
submitted to the planning authority.  

Specific published pre-application advice :

DE21/18/0002, 300 dwellings + Cromer FC
relocation. Advice issued XXX
DE21/18/0015, Screening opinion (300
dwellings), Advice issued XXX
DE21/24/0770, Screening opinion (400
dwellings). Advice issued XXX
DE21/24/2153, Screening opinion (550
dwellings). Advice issues XXX

Previously published at Reg 19 as a smaller allocation
C22/2.

An application is currently pending determination:

PO/18/2169, Hybrid: 300 dwellings + new road and
other infrastructure + full permission for new football
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club facilities. Submitted 21/11/2018.

A further outline application was received 04/03/2025
(PO/25/0492) and is awaiting validation. This relates to
the larger site area C22/4.

Please provide details of the expected timeframe for
submitting full/reserved matters application:

Answer: If the outline application receives a resolution
to permit in October 2025 and a S.106 is signed by Dec
2025 (as stated in the draft PPA) then it is anticipated
that reserved matters will be submitted by Summer
2026.

Developer Engagement (this
is in reference to Question F
in the Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:

Answer: All the land is under the control of the site
promoter.

Delivery Information:

Site C22/4 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out
in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

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

It would be of assistance if you could confirm intentions around application PO/18/2169
which is currently pending decision, as we understand that a new application has recently
been submitted is it the case that this application will be withdrawn?
I can confirm that PO/18/2169 can be withdrawn on validation of PO/25/0492.

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
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From: Kirstie Clifton
To: Chris Brown
Cc: richard.shuldham@savills.com; property@trin.cam.ac.uk
Subject: Re: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land North of Rudham Stile Lane, Fakenham (F01/B)
Date: 06 March 2025 18:50:10

Evening Chris

Please find below our confirmation of the various points set out in the table in relation to
site F01/B. 

We are obviously keen to ensure you have all you need, so if there is anything more that
you require, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Kind regards

Kirstie

Kirstie Clifton
Director

Define. | Unit 6 | 133-137 Newhall Street |  Birmingham |  B3 1SF

T: 0121 237 1916 |  M: 07730 099890
E: kirstie@wearedefine.com |  W: www.wearedefine.com

Any views or personal opinions expressed within this email may not be those of Define or its employees. The content of this email
message and any files that may be attached are confidential, and for the usage of the intended recipient only. If you are not the
intended recipient, then please return this message to the sender and delete it. Any use of this e-mail by an unauthorised recipient is
prohibited.

On 6 Mar 2025, at 14:34, Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk>
wrote:

Dear Kirstie,

Land North of Rudham Stile Lane, Fakenham (F01/B)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to
commence in early April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in
order to assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan and
the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the information provided by
you previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s
evidence at the April hearing sessions. It is essential that the information is
accurate and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing sessions as the
Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the delivery of all sites
in the Local Plan.

F01/B
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Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

Application Status A formal planning application has not yet
been submitted. Please provide details of
the expected timeframe for submitting an
application:

Answer: It is expected that an application for
development could be submitted within the
next 3-4 years. As such, we consider the
Council's trajectory to be robust in that regard.

Developer Engagement (this
is in reference to Question F
in the MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the
site allocation? If there is, please specify
who:

Answer: No, the landowners are in
discussions on the engagement of
development partners, but as yet have not
been in contact with developers.

Nutrient Neutrality This site is subject to Nutrient Neutrality
mitigation. Please re-confirm by answering
Yes/No that the below information is
correct regarding how the mitigation is
intended to be provided:

Mitigation Method: On-site mitigation
(fallowing of land & SUDs enhancement),
Off-site mitigation (purchase of credits).

Answer: Yes

The College has been working with its
advisors to promote the land, including
securing advice on the nutrient neutrality
mitigation requirement and potential
strategies. We supplied this to North
Norfolk District Council during the
regulation 19 consultation and we have
reviewed this with Stantec and can confirm
that it is still relevant. Within our review we
concluded again that, given the anticipated
timescale, it is not unusual to take a
watching brief over the various
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opportunities for nutrient mitigation rather
than fixing a specific option. We do expect
to reduce the mitigation budget through
some fallowing of land and through on site
solutions such as SUDS enhancement,
however, it is likely that we will look to off-
site mitigation to make up the difference.
We anticipate, as credit schemes are
emerging all of the time, that this most
likely will be done through a credit
mitigation scheme either of our own
creation or through a credit provider.
 

 
Delivery Information:
 
Site F01/B is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-
site as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

Year Commencement
2024/25  
2025/26  
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29  
2029/30  
2030/31  
2031/32  
2032/33  
2033/34  
2034/35  
2035/36 ✔
2036/37  
2037/38  
2038/39  
2039/40  
2040 +  

 
 
We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above
information remains accurate in order to assist with the forthcoming hearings
and to help us to secure your allocation.
 
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

*********************************************************************************************************************************
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North Norfolk District Council
This E-mail and any files transmitted with it are private and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to
whom they are addressed.  
It may contain sensitive or protectively marked material up to OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE and should be handled
accordingly. 
If you are not the intended recipient, the E-mail and any files have been transmitted to you in error and any
copying, distribution or other use of 
the information contained in them is strictly prohibited. Please notify the sender immediately if you have received it
in error.
Nothing in this E-mail message amounts to a contractual or other legal commitment on the part of the Council
unless confirmed by a communication signed by a 
properly authorised officer of the Council.
We may have to make this message and any reply to it public if asked to under the Freedom of Information Act
2000, Data Protection Act 1998 or for litigation.
All emails maybe monitored in accordance with relevant legislation.

http://www.north-norfolk.gov.uk
Follow us on Twitter - http://twitter.com/NorthNorfolkDC
*********************************************************************************************************************************
************************************************************ 
Think before you ink - do you really need to print this?
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From: Gunning, Ciaran @ London
To: Chris Brown
Cc: Landsberg, Paul @ London
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Adjacent to Petrol Filling Station, Wells Road, Fakenham (F02)
Date: 12 March 2025 15:55:19
Attachments: image001.png

You don't often get email from ciaran.gunning@cbre.com. Learn why this is important

Dear Chris,

Thank you for reaching out to my colleague Paul in relation to the site - Land Adjacent to
Petrol Filling Station, Wells Road, Fakenham (F02).

Please see our response below in highlighted text.

In sum, the site remains available, suitable and deliverable for residential development, as
proposed through the draft site allocation F02, and we welcome NNDC’s support of this
allocation throughout the Local Plan examination process.

As an aside, noting the Council’s housing supply situation at the previous Local Plan
hearings stage, should the Council require further housing units to fulfil housing target
requirements, at this late stage, we would be open to having a conversation about
facilitating this on the F02 site.

We hope that the hearings progress well in the coming weeks.

Kind regards,

Ciaran
Ciaran Gunning (He/Him)
Assistant Planner
CBRE | Planning
Henrietta House | London, W1G 0NB
ciaran.gunning@cbre.com | +44 7787 271960 | LinkedIn

Follow CBRE: CBRE.com | LinkedIn | Twitter | Instagram | Facebook | Weibo | WeChat

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 06 March 2025 14:43
To: Landsberg, Paul @ London <Paul.Landsberg@cbre.com>

F02
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Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Adjacent to Petrol Filling Station, Wells Road, Fakenham
(F02)

External

Dear Paul,

Land Adjacent to Petrol Filling Station, Wells Road, Fakenham (F02)

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

Application Status An application has not yet been submitted. Please
provide details of the expected timeframe for
submitting an application:

Answer:

As confirmed in CBRE’s letter to NNDC dated 26/01/2024,
which accompanied the previous EiP hearings period,
CBRE, on behalf of the landowner, can confirm that the
site remains available, suitable and deliverable for
residential redevelopment.

Once an allocation is secured a planning application
would be progressed in quick succession, subject to site
disposal.

The Council’s proposed housing trajectory reads the site
will commence in 2028/29. This remains highly attainable
and realistic for this site allocation.

This proposed programme of delivery would align with the
timing of an allocation secured through a new adopted
Local Plan, onward disposal of the site, the submission
and onward determination of a detailed planning
application, discharge of conditions, and subsequent
commencement of development.
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Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:

Answer:

At present there is no developer involved in the promotion
of the site.

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

Mitigation Method: Off-site mitigation (purchase of
credits),
Off-site mitigation (other)

On-site mitigation
Off-site mitigation within same landownership

Answer:

Yes.

As evidenced in the previous EiP hearings it is considered
common ground between parties that due to the smaller
scale of this allocation that any development will likely be
reliant on third-part Nutrient Neutrality credits and off-site
mitigation.

Delivery Information:

Site F02 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in
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
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From: Colin Danks
To: Chris Brown
Cc: npollock@duchyofcornwall.org
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Junction of A148 and B1146, Fakenham (F03)
Date: 17 March 2025 17:04:55
Attachments: image002.jpg

image003.png

Hi Chris,

Nick has confirmed the following and I hope this is sufficient for your needs.  If you require
anything further, please do let me know.

Application Status An application has not yet been submitted. Please
provide details of the expected timeframe for
submitting an application:

Answer: The landowner is waiting for confirmation
that the site is allocated in an adopted plan to give
the certainty to invest in the cost of making a
planning application.  Providing the plan is adopted
in a timely manner, then the timetable set out in
the delivery statement previously submitted could
be adhered to.

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:

Answer: The landowner has delivered several
large-scale schemes as master developer working
with a range of organisations that build residential
dwellings.  At this stage a residential development
partner has not been selected.

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

Mitigation Method: On-site mitigation (BioDisc &
SUDs)
Off-site mitigation within same landownership
Off-site mitigation (purchase of credits)
Off-site mitigation (other)

Answer:

Note: The site promoter details a range of possible

F03
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options for mitigation, in particular an on-site
mitigation example utilised at Foldhill Lane,
Martock (South Somerset). Please see pages 4-5 of
document EH013 (j) Inspector's actions raised in
examination hearings, and Council's response
(Matter 7): Appendix 2 for further details.

Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29 ✔
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

Kind regards

Colin

COLIN DANKS MRTPI
Director

T:      +447891 817035
E:       colin@copperfieldltd.co.uk
W:     www.copperfieldltd.co.uk
A:       Suite 2, Leigh Court Business Centre, Pill Road, Abbots Leigh, Bristol, BS8 3RA
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From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 17 March 2025 16:25
To: Colin Danks <colin@copperfieldltd.co.uk>
Cc: npollock@duchyofcornwall.org
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Junction of A148 and B1146, Fakenham (F03)

Hi Colin,

I’m just reaching out to see if you are able to respond to my previous email (below), which
will be extremely helpful to the ongoing examination and assist with the general status and
expectations around delivery that we can provide to the inspector.

It is quite urgent so I would greatly appreciate your time in providing a response.

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
Sent: 06 March 2025 15:01
To: colin@copperfieldltd.co.uk
Cc: npollock@duchyofcornwall.org
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Junction of A148 and B1146, Fakenham (F03)
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Dear Colin,

Land at Junction of A148 and B1146, Fakenham (F03)

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

Site F03 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in
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
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From: tcd@spacemad.com
To: Chris Brown
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land South of Barons Close, Fakenham (F10)
Date: 10 March 2025 13:05:30
Attachments: image001.png

Dear Chris, Yes this is a reflection of our position.

Regards
Tim C Duffy M.S.I.A.D

+44  (0)7860 717919

NOTICE

This e-mail (including attachments) is confidential and may be covered by legal professional privilege. If you are not the intended recipient you are
prohibited from printing, copying or distributing it. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately by telephone or by
e-mail and delete this e-mail from your system. Thank you.

WARNING
It is possible for data conveyed by e-mail to be deliberately or accidentally intercepted or corrupted. The sender of the email is unable to accept
any responsibility for any breaches of confidence, which may arise through use of this medium. Although this e-mail and its attachments are
believed to be free from any virus, it is the responsibility of the recipient to ensure that they are virus free.

GDPR
Any information we may have or have used is retained solely for the purpose of maintaining our trading relationship and general communication.
We will guarantee never to knowingly share your details with any third party, or to misuse any information we hold, and certainly not without your
permission.

From: Chris Brown [mailto:Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk] 
Sent: 10 March 2025 12:56
To: tcd@spacemad.com
Subject: FW: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land South of Barons Close, Fakenham (F10)

Hi Tim,

Just to confirm further to our telephone conversation around the timescales for submitting
an application, that the below represents the current position.

If you could simply confirm by reply ‘yes’, that would be appreciated.

Best wishes

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318

North Norfolk District Council Twitter

F10
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Facebook

NNDC Net Zero Strategy

﻿
 
 
Dear Tim,
 
Land South of Barons Close, Fakenham (F10)
 
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
 
 

Application Status An application has not yet been submitted.
Please provide details of the expected timeframe
for submitting an application:
 
Answer: An application is currently in preparation
with a view to submitting Q2/Q3 2025.
 

Developer
Engagement (this is in
reference to Question
F in the Inspector’s
MIQs)

Please confirm that the following developer is
involved with this site. If this is inaccurate, or
multiple developers are involved, please provide
details:
 
Answer: Inside Land Group (ILG), Flagship
Housing likely to take on future
ownership/management.
 

Nutrient Neutrality This site is subject to Nutrient Neutrality
mitigation. Please re-confirm by answering
Yes/No that the below information is correct
regarding how the mitigation is intended to be
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provided:

Mitigation Method(s):

1. On-site mitigation (Land reversion from
livestock farming from the site).

TBC
2. Off-site mitigation within same

landownership - Consideration of further 4
hectare could be available for land
reversion.

3. Off-site mitigation (purchase of credits) -
Consideration of 8 – 11 credits purchased
should land reversion becomes more long
term in finalising agreements.

4. Off-site mitigation (other) - Current
negotiations and consideration for septic
tank upgrades by from developer.

Answer: Yes

Delivery Information:

Site F10 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site
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

Chris ​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318

North Norfolk District Council Twitter

Facebook

<image041912.png>
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From: Helen Morris
To: Chris Brown
Subject: Re: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land North of Valley Lane, Holt (H17)
Date: 14 March 2025 08:51:48
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Good morning Chris

Apologies for the delay in responding, I've been out of the office.

I can confirm the developer(s) involved with the site are now: Derek Foreman Housebuilders Ltd and Bayfield Homes.

Subject to planning permission being granted for the current application, they are still aiming for commencement in 2025/26.

Kind regards

Helen

Helen Morris BSc (Hons), DipTp, MRTPI

Director (East of England)

M: 07508 065822
helenmorris@rcaregeneration.co.uk

RCA Regeneration Limited 
T: 01553 341881 
Unit 6 De Salis Court, Hampton Lovett Industrial Estate, Droitwich Spa, Worcestershire, WR9 0QE 
http://www.rcaregeneration.co.uk/

This message and any attachments may be confidential and should not be disclosed to or used by anyone other than the intended recipient. If you have received this e-mail in error please notify the sender immediately by contacting
RCA Regeneration Limited 01905 887686 and then delete it from your system. You should not retain the message or disclose its contents to anyone. RCA Regeneration Limited accepts no responsibility for software viruses and all
recipients should check for viruses before opening any attachments.

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 06 March 2025 15:14
To: helenmorris@rcaregeneration.co.uk
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land North of Valley Lane, Holt (H17)

Dear Helen,

Land North of Valley Lane, Holt (H17)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to
assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the information provided by you
previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the April hearing sessions. It is essential that the information is accurate
and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing sessions as the Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the delivery of all sites in the Local
Plan.

Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

Application Status A formal planning application is currently pending determination:

Answer: PF/24/2530, submitted 02/12/2024.

Developer Engagement (this is in reference to
Question F in the Inspector’s MIQs)

Please confirm that the following developer is involved with this site. If
this is inaccurate, or multiple developers are involved, please provide
details:

Answer: Derek Foreman Housebuilders Ltd & Bayfield Homes

Delivery Information:

Site H17 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

H17
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Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26 ✔
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32
2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above information remains accurate in order to assist with the forthcoming hearings and to help
us to secure your allocation.

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
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From: Jamieson Bird
To: Chris Brown
Cc: Helen Morris; Robert Csondor; Ken DIckinson; Derek Foreman
Subject: FW: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land North of Valley Lane, Holt (H17)
Date: 14 March 2025 10:46:10
Attachments: image001.png
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You don't often get email from jbird@bayfieldhomes.co.uk. Learn why this is important

Chris

Your email to Helen has been forwarded to me as one of the Developers engaged in this
project alongside Derek Foreman. You will see from the email string below that Ken Dickinson
has forwarded the email to me as Helen Morris is currently away. I have copied in a
colleague of hers as this exchange would typically have been forwarded to me in her
absence.

I have also copied in Derek Foreman Housebuilders for transparency.

Bayfield Homes are engaged with Derek Foreman in this project so the only alteration that
needs to be made is the inclusion of Bayfield Homes alongside Derek Foreman
Housebuilders.

Otherwise this is correct.

Hope this help, if you have any further queries please come back to me but I will be at a
funeral this pm.

Regards

Jamieson Bird 
Managing Director 

signature_2583215521

The North Barn, Stody Hall Barns, Stody, Melton Constable, Norfolk, NR24 2ED
///search.lifeguard.shuts

Tel: 01263 805805 | Mobile: 07909 777203
Email: jbird@bayfieldhomes.co.uk| Website: bayfieldhomes.co.uk

This email may be confidential and is intended solely for the use of the individual to whom it is addressed. Any views or opinions
expressed are solely those of the author and do not necessarily represent those of Bayfield Homes Ltd. If you are not the intended
recipient of this email, you must neither take any action based upon its contents, nor copy or show it to anyone.  Please contact the
sender if you believe you have received this email in error. Bayfield Homes Ltd | Registered Office: 38 High Street, Watton, Norfolk, IP25
6PE. | Registration Number: 07566307 | VAT Number: 119965671 

From: Ken Dickinson <ksdickinson@talk21.com>
Date: Friday, 14 March 2025 at 09:51
To: Jamieson Bird <jbird@bayfieldhomes.co.uk>
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Cc: derek.foreman@hotmail.com <derek.foreman@hotmail.com>
Subject: Fwd: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land North of Valley Lane, Holt (H17)

Jamie,

As discussed, please cc me in on your actions.

Regards,

Ken

------ Original Message ------
From: Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk
To: helenmorris@rcaregeneration.co.uk Cc: ksdickinson@talk21.com
Sent: Thursday, March 13th 2025, 17:24
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land North of Valley Lane, Holt
(H17)

Dear Helen,

Just a quick follow up to see if you received my email request.

Would greatly appreciate your reply at the earliest opportunity.

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
order to assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan
and the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the information
provided by you previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s
evidence at the April hearing sessions. It is essential that the information
is accurate and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing sessions as
the Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the delivery of
all sites in the Local Plan.

Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

Application Status A formal planning application is
currently pending determination:

Answer: PF/24/2530, submitted
02/12/2024.

Developer Engagement
(this is in reference to
Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Please confirm that the following
developer is involved with this site. If
this is inaccurate, or multiple
developers are involved, please provide
details:

Answer: Derek Foreman Housebuilders
Ltd

Delivery Information:
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Site H17 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing
on-site as set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

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
information remains accurate in order to assist with the forthcoming
hearings and to help us to secure your allocation.

We look forward to receiving your response by or before Friday 14th

March.

Kind Regards

Chris Brown
Project Management Support Officer (Planning Policy)

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318
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From: David Fletcher
To: Chris Brown
Cc: alastairandjulie@btinternet.com; Iain Halls
Subject: Re: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Heath Farm, Holt (H20/1)
Date: 14 March 2025 13:25:03
Attachments: image040344.png

Dear Chris,

Thank you for your email. I have put our answers in red below on the below table:

If I could also just ask that you update the agent details for this site with my new details (telephone number is
below). My new address is as follows:

Ceres Property 
11-12 Council Offices
London Road 
Saffron Walden 
CB11 4ER 

Kind Regards

David 

Application Status An application has not yet been submitted. Please provide
details of the expected timeframe for submitting an application:

Answer: The intention is to commence work on a planning
application following the Adoption of a Local Plan. 

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site allocation? If there
is, please specify who:

Answer: At this stage a preferred developer has not been
selected. The landowner of the site has previously worked
successfully with a developer on the implementation of HO9
allocation at Heath Farm, which has largely been built out.
Discussions have been held with developers who have
confirmed an interest in taking this site forward. We intend to
select a preferred developer following the adoption of the Local
Plan. 

Delivery Information:

Site H20/1 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in the Council’s
trajectory, which is as follows:

Year Commencement
2024/25
2025/26
2026/27
2027/28
2028/29
2029/30
2030/31
2031/32

H20/1
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2032/33
2033/34
2034/35
2035/36
2036/37
2037/38
2038/39
2039/40
2040 +

David Fletcher
Partner
07826949603

From: Chris Brown
Sent: Friday, March 14, 2025 07:56
To: David Fletcher
Cc: alastairandjulie@btinternet.com; Iain Halls
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Heath Farm, Holt (H20/1)

Dear David,

Land at Heath Farm, Holt (H20/1)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early April regarding the
Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan and
the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the information provided by you previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the April hearing sessions.
It is essential that the information is accurate and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing sessions as the
Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the delivery of all sites in the Local Plan.

Your response must be returned by or before Friday 21st March at the latest.

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

We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above information remains accurate in order to
assist with the forthcoming hearings and to help us to secure your allocation.

We look forward to receiving your response by or before Friday 21st March.

Kind Regards

Chris Brown
Project Management Support Officer (Planning Policy)

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318

NNDC Net Zero Strategy
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From: Julian Wells
To: Chris Brown
Cc: iain.hill@bidwells.co.uk
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land East of Tunstead Road (HV01/C) & Land at Stalham Road (HV06/A), Hoveton
Date: 10 March 2025 11:51:58
Attachments: ~WRD0000.jpg

image001.jpg
image002.png

Chris,

Please see my comments in red below.

Thanks

Julian

Julian Wells Office 01603 295052 / Mobile 07733 261502

Director julian@fw-properties.com

FW Properties Ltd: 1st Floor, 3 The Close, Norwich, NR1 4DL. Registered in England no. 07399164. This email transmission is private and
confidential, and is intended for the addressee(s) only. If you believe you have received this email in error please delete it and email
info@fw-properties.com or call +44 1603 295050. The views and opinions expressed in this email are those of the author and do not
necessarily represent the views and opinions of FW Properties.

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2025 11:26
To: Julian Wells <julian@fw-properties.com>
Cc: iain.hill@bidwells.co.uk
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land East of Tunstead Road (HV01/C) & Land at Stalham
Road (HV06/A), Hoveton

Dear Julian,

Land East of Tunstead Road (HV01/C) & Land at Stalham Road (HV06/A), Hoveton

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early
April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council supporting
your allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the
information provided by you previously remains accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the April
hearing sessions. It is essential that the information is accurate and as up to date as possible
prior to the hearing sessions as the Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the

HV01/C & HV06/A
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delivery of all sites in the Local Plan.

Your response must be returned by Friday 14th March at the latest.

Application Status This site has been subject to pre-application advice:

Answer: No, however a pre-app request was received
20/02/2025 and is pending consideration.

A formal planning application has not yet been
submitted. Please provide details of the expected
timeframe for submitting an application:

Answer: The detailed planning application for Sites
HV01/C and HV06/A will be submitted later in 2025
once the land has been allocated.

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Please confirm Yes/No that the following developer is
involved with this site. If this is inaccurate, or multiple
developers are involved, please provide details:

FW Properties who are fully engaged for the
development of both sites.

Answer: Yes

Nutrient Neutrality This site is subject to Nutrient Neutrality mitigation.
Please re-confirm by answering Yes/No that the
below information is correct regarding how the
mitigation is intended to be provided:

Mitigation Method: Off-site mitigation (purchase of
credits)

On-site mitigation
Off-site mitigation within same landownership
Off-site mitigation (other)

Answer: Yes

Delivery Information:

Site HV01/C & HV06/A is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as
set out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows – this is correct

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
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From: David Jones
To: Chris Brown
Cc: Geoff Armstrong
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land South Of School Road, Ludham (LUD01/C)
Date: 14 March 2025 09:46:36
Attachments: image001.jpg

image002.png
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Dear Chris,

Thank you for your email and apologies for the slow response.

Please see comments in red below

Best regards

David

David Jones (david.jones@arplanning.co.uk)
Principal Planner
Direct: 01234 867134
Mob: 07803 501209
Tel: 01234 867135
Description: ARP Logo

The Exchange | Colworth Science Park | Sharnbrook | Bedford  MK44 1LZ
t  01234 867135 | e  info@arplanning.co.uk | w  www.arplanning.co.uk

This email and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or
entity to whom they are addressed. If you have received this email in error please notify us at once so that we
may take the appropriate action to avoid troubling you further

Armstrong Rigg Planning Ltd
Registered in England and Wales.  Registration No.08137553
Registered Address: The Exchange, Colworth Science Park, Sharnbrook, Bedford, MK44 1LQ

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2025 11:42
To: David Jones <David.Jones@arplanning.co.uk>
Cc: Geoff Armstrong <Geoff.Armstrong@arplanning.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land South Of School Road, Ludham (LUD01/C)

LUD01/C
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Dear David,

Land South Of School Road, Ludham (LUD01/C)

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

Answer: DE21/22/1688 (40 dwellings), submitted
8th July 2022, advice given 19/07/2023.

Answer: The site has planning permission on part
of the site: PF/19/0991 (12 dwellings), approved
10/02/2021 and subsequently varied by
RV/23/1631. This area has been sold to a
housebuilder and has commenced development.

An application has not yet been submitted for the
remainder of the proposed allocation area. Please
provide details of the expected timeframe for
submitting a further application:

Answer: We would expect the site to be sold to a
housebuilder within 6 months of adoption and for a
planning application to be submitted within a
further 6 months. This gives a conservative
estimate of 1 year from adoption.

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:

Answer: The part of the site with planning
permission has been sold to a housebuilder
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(Charles Bracey / Pightle Homes). It is proposed
that the remainder of the proposed allocation
would be sold to a housebuilder following the
adoption of the Local Plan. Initial discussions with
interested parties has confirmed that there is
strong demand.

Delivery Information:

Site LUD01/C is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set
out in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

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
Assuming adoption of the Local Plan in Mid-2025, commencement within 2026/27 remains
accurate.

We look forward to receiving your response by or before Friday 14th March.

Kind Regards

Chris Brown
Project Management Support Officer (Planning Policy)

51



From: Richard Shuldham
To: Chris Brown
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Off Cromer Road & Church Lane, Mundesley (MUN03/A)
Date: 12 March 2025 17:31:05
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Hi Chris,

Responses below.

Kind regards,
Richard

Richard Shuldham MRICS
Associate Director
Development

Savills, Lawrence House, 5 St Andrews Hill, Norwich, NR2 1AD

Tel: +441603229231
Mobile: +447870999463
Email: richard.shuldham@savills.com
Website: savills.co.uk

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2025 11:54
To: Richard Shuldham <richard.shuldham@savills.com>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Off Cromer Road & Church Lane, Mundesley (MUN03/A)

Dear Richard,

Land Off Cromer Road & Church Lane, Mundesley (MUN03/A)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early
April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council

MUN03/A
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

Application Status This site is subject to an active request for pre-
application advice:

Answer: DE21/24/0658 (36 dwellings + 1 x self build
plot), received 26/03/2024, advice pending.

An application is currently pending determination
on part of the proposed site allocation area
(formerly consulted on at Reg 19 stage as
MUN03/B):

Answer: PF/24/2483 (36 dwellings + 1 x self build
plot), received 26/11/2024.

Please provide details of the expected timeframe
for submitting an application on the remaining area
of the allocation (MUN03/A):

Answer:
 Subject to the progress of the existing allocation
for which an application has been submitted we
would anticipate an application being within 1 to
2 years.

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:

Answer: We have engaged a developer on part of
the site and are in discussions on the strategy for
the remaining area.

Delivery Information:

Site MUN03/A is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set
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

********************************************************************************************************************************************************
*************************************
North Norfolk District Council
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From: Simon Atha
To: Chris Brown
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocations: Land at End of Mundesley Road, North Walsham (NW16)
Date: 27 March 2025 10:00:17
Attachments: ~WRD2041.jpg

image001.png
image002.png
image394676.jpg
image524393.png
image392818.png

Hi Chris

Thanks for this. Please see my answers below in red.

Trust this assists.

Kind regards

Simon

Simon Atha​​​​

Director

T     01509 278 668
M    07801995475
L     linkedin.com/boyer
W    boyerplanning.co.uk
A     1a Cedars Office Park, Butt Lane, Normanton, Loughborough, LE12 5EE

Boyer is proud to support Trussell 

​Terms and Conditions
Registered Address: Crowthorne House, Nine Mile Ride, Wokingham, Berkshire, RG40 3GZ. 
Registered in England 2529151.
​poiuytrewq0987654321

​To see full disclaimer that applies to this email please click here.
To see our Standard Terms and Conditions of Contract please click here.

At Boyer we take your data privacy seriously view our privacy notice.

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 27 March 2025 09:36
To: Simon Atha <simonatha@boyerplanning.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocations: Land at End of Mundesley Road, North Walsham (NW16)
Importance: High

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organisation - please exercise care with links and attachments

Dear Simon,

Land at End of Mundesley Road, North Walsham (NW16)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early April regarding the
Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council supporting your allocation in the local plan
and the sites deliverability please can you re-confirm the information provided by you previously remains
accurate.

This information will be provided to the Inspector as part of the Council’s evidence at the April hearing

NW16
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sessions. It is essential that the information is accurate and as up to date as possible prior to the hearing
sessions as the Inspector has made it clear of his intentions to discuss the delivery of all sites in the Local
Plan.
 
Please could we request a response by Friday 28th March.
 
 

Application Status This site has been subject to pre-application advice:
 
Answer: DE21/24/1858 (330 dwellings, access, landscape and
associated infrastructure), received 11/09/2024. Positive pre-
application advice given 11/12/2024.
 
An application is currently pending:
 
Answer: PO/24/2717 (330 dwellings + up to 60 units elderly
care, access, landscaping and associated infrastructure)
received 24/12/2024 and is currently pending consideration.
 
No adverse technical constraints have been identified by the
applicant’s supporting technical reports that would prevent
outline planning permission from being granted. Further
technical work is being undertaken to address statutory
consultee comments in relation to Highways and Ecology.
 

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site allocation? If there
is, please specify who:
 
Answer: Richborough, who are one of the country’s largest land
promoters, have a promotional agreement in place with the
landowner to secure outline planning permission and to bring
the site forward for development. Richborough have been
promoting this site through the Local Plan process since 2017.
 
Since the proposed draft allocation of the site, Richborough
have undertaken soft marketing with volume and regional
housebuilders to ascertain market interest. Positive interest has
been received from housebuilders to purchase the site once
outline planning permission has been granted. A reserved
matters application would be submitted by the
housebuilder/purchaser of the site following the grant of outline
planning permission with units anticipated to start to be
delivered from the site in the 2026/27 monitoring year.
 

 
Delivery Information:
 
Site NW16 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in the Council’s
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

 
 
Our trajectory from our reps submitted is as follows:
 

 
We appreciate your assistance in confirming the information above information remains accurate in order to
assist with the forthcoming hearings and to help us to secure your allocation.
 
We look forward to receiving your response by 28th March.
 
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

 
**************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************
*******
North Norfolk District Council
This E-mail and any files transmitted with it are private and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are addressed.  
It may contain sensitive or protectively marked material up to OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE and should be handled accordingly. 
If you are not the intended recipient, the E-mail and any files have been transmitted to you in error and any copying, distribution or other use of 
the information contained in them is strictly prohibited. Please notify the sender immediately if you have received it in error.
Nothing in this E-mail message amounts to a contractual or other legal commitment on the part of the Council unless confirmed by a communication signed by a 
properly authorised officer of the Council.
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From: michaelpert
To: Chris Brown
Subject: Re: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Adjoining Seaview Crescent, Sheringham (SH04)
Date: 11 March 2025 10:02:50
Attachments: image161668.png

Dear Christopher,

Thank you for your email. Yes the information you hold for this land adjoining Seaview
Crescent, Sheringham, is still correct with the one exception that I think a formal Planning
Application will be lodged with NNDC either later this year or early next year. I hope this helps
and gives you the information you require.

Regards. 

Michael Pert

------ Original Message ------
From: Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk
To: michaelpert@btinternet.com
Sent: Friday, March 7th 2025, 15:16
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Adjoining Seaview Crescent,
Sheringham (SH04)

Dear Michael,
Land Adjoining Seaview Crescent, Sheringham (SH04
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

Application Status An application has not yet been
submitted. Please provide details of the
expected timeframe for submitting an
application:
Answer: Planning Application expected to
be submitted Q4 2025 or Q1 2026. 

Developer Engagement Please confirm that the following

SH04
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
Answer: Peart & Barrell (Builders)
Limited

Delivery Information:
Site SH04 is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing
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
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From: Henry Cockerton
To: Chris Brown
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Local Plan Site Allocation: Land South of Butts Lane, Sheringham (SH18/1B)
Date: 18 March 2025 12:17:30
Attachments: ~WRD0001.jpg
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image547891.jpg

See below.

We will move as quickly as we can to bring this site and perhaps slightly more land forward
as soon as possible.

Let me know if you require any further information.

Regards

Henry Cockerton ​​​​
, BSc (Hons) MRICS

Partner

For full details of all our services, please visit our Website

For and on behalf of Brown & Co ‑ Property & Business Consultants LLP
T 01263 711167 | M 075900 41344
Holt Office, 1A Market Place, Holt, Norfolk, NR25 6BE, United Kingdom

Brown & Co is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC302092. The registered
office is Brown&Co, The Atrium, St George's Street, Norwich, Norfolk, NR3 1AB . A list of members is open to inspection at our
offices. 
CONFIDENTIALITY: This e-mail and any attachments are confidential and may also be privileged. If you are not the named
recipient, please notify the sender immediately and do not disclose the contents to another person, use it for any purpose, or store
or copy the information in any medium. Although this e-mail and any attachments are believed to be free from any virus or other
defect which might affect any system into which they are opened or received, it is the responsibility of the recipient to check that
they are virus free and that they will in no way affect systems and data. No responsibility is accepted by Brown & Co for any loss or
damage arising in any way from their receipt, opening or use.

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 17 March 2025 17:44
To: Henry Cockerton <Henry.Cockerton@Brown-co.com>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Local Plan Site Allocation: Land South of Butts Lane, Sheringham (SH18/1B)

This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless
you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Dear Henry,

Land South of Butts Lane, Sheringham (SH18/1B)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early

SH18/1B
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April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council
supporting your allocation in the local plan and the sites deliverability, please can you re-
confirm the information provided by you (or, where applicable, by us) previously remains
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

Application Status A formal planning application has not yet been
submitted. Please provide details of the expected
timeframe for submitting an application:

Answer: Work with our planning consultants is
underway and we hope to submit an application
as soon as possible.

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:

Answer:  We have not yet agreed terms with a
developer however we are very experienced in the
land market and have been approached by a
number of developers who would like to take this
site forward.  We will engage with a developer as
soon as we are ready to proceed.

Delivery Information:

Site SH18/1B is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set
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

We look forward to receiving your response as soon as is possible.

Kind Regards

Chris​​​​ Brown
Project Management Support Officer
+441263 516318
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From: Rory Baker
To: Chris Brown
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Brumstead Road, Stalham (ST04/A)
Date: 17 March 2025 10:52:07
Attachments: ~WRD0000.jpg
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Dear Chris,

My sincere apologies for not getting this over to you Friday.

Please see below. It is highly likely that the site will be sold to a housebuilder / promoter
but for now I have kept this high level. Happy to amend as the Council sees necessary to
strengthen the delivery position as much as possible.

Kind regards,
Rory

Rory Baker
Associate Partner
07442 404615
rory.baker@ceresproperty.co.uk
ceresproperty.co.uk

Ceres Property, Unit 1 Whitbreads Business Centre, Whitbreads Farm Lane, Little Waltham, Chelmsford, CM3 3FE
Company Number: OC437363

From: Chris Brown <Chris.Brown@north-norfolk.gov.uk> 
Sent: 07 March 2025 15:21
To: Rory Baker <Rory.Baker@ceresproperty.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land at Brumstead Road, Stalham (ST04/A)

Dear Rory,

Land at Brumstead Road, Stalham (ST04/A)

ST04/A
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
 
Answer: It is expected that a planning application will
be submitted within 6 months of the adoption of the
Local Plan.
 

Developer Engagement (this is in
reference to Question F in the
Inspector’s MIQs)

Is there a developer(s) involved with the site
allocation? If there is, please specify who:
 
Answer: Currently there is no developer involved in the
site and is being promoted solely by the Landowner.
However, the Landowner will be exploring all options
to bring the site forward for development, including
bringing on board a site promoter and / or developer.
 

Nutrient Neutrality This site is subject to Nutrient Neutrality mitigation.
Please re-confirm by answering Yes/No that the below
information is correct regarding how the mitigation is
intended to be provided:
 
Mitigation Method:
 

On-site mitigation - SuDS / Wetlands. No
dialogue with NE has yet taken place.
Off-site mitigation (purchase of credits) -
Purchasing of off-site credits. No dialogue with
NE has yet taken place.
Off-site mitigation (other) - Cessation of
agricultural activities and / or permanent change
of land use. No dialogue with NE has yet taken
place.
Off-site mitigation within same landownership
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Answer: Yes

Delivery Information:

Site ST04/A is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out in
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
Subject: RE: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Adjacent Ingham Road, Stalham (ST19/B)
Date: 17 March 2025 20:56:09
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
Sent: 07 March 2025 15:59
To: Iain Hill <iain.hill@bidwells.co.uk>
Cc: benwrightprivate@gmail.com; Jake Lambert <jake.lambert@bidwells.co.uk>
Subject: Local Plan Site Allocation: Land Adjacent Ingham Road, Stalham (ST19/B)

Dear Iain,

Land Adjacent Ingham Road, Stalham (ST19/B)

In preparation for the North Norfolk Local Plan Hearing Sessions due to commence in early
April regarding the Further Consultation proposals, in order to assist in the council

ST19/B
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

Answer: Q2 2025

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

Barratt David Wilson Homes

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

Site ST19/B is expected to (approximately) commence delivery of housing on-site as set out
in the Council’s trajectory, which is as follows:

67

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.north-norfolk.gov.uk%2Fmedia%2F10905%2Feh006-n-resumed-hearings-inspectors-note-miqs-and-draft-programme-v1.pdf&data=05%7C02%7C%7C6a7af9fed89941b6470208dd6596184b%7C9f672fd198824545912b3e81310be672%7C0%7C0%7C638778417680097700%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=7Mt6gyxpT9b4dHsPqZKRvuEm6e4DQq0%2FEEm5jhcATUY%3D&reserved=0


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
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